IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAWONDA SHEPHERD

APPELLANT

v.

No. 2009-KA-00112-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT LAWONDA SHEPHERD

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Bolivar County No. 2008-022-CR2

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Andrew B. "Drew" Schimmel 3000 Old Canton Road, Suite 465 Jackson, Miss. 39206

T: 601.852.3764

F: 601.519.0009

E: drew@schimmel-law.com

David Neil McCarty

Miss. Bar No

David Neil McCarty Law Firm, PLLC

416 East Amite Street Jackson, Miss. 39201

T: 601.874.0721

F: 866.236.7731

E: dnmlaw@gmail.com

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAWONDA SHEPHERD

APPELLANT

v.

No. 2009-KA-00112-COA

Statement of the Issues

This appeal presents four main questions:

- 1. Should a trial be severed when a confession given by a co-defendant implicates the accused?
- 2. Was the jury properly instructed on the law of self-defense in light of the changes in the law wrought by the Castle Doctrine?
 - 3. Does the Castle Doctrine also provide a defense for an accessory before the fact?
- 4. Is it ineffective assistance of counsel for a defense lawyer to fail to impeach a defendant, when the co-defendant has committed perjury and now implicates the accused in a crime? Is it further ineffective assistance to fail to raise a change in the law of self defense, and to request a continuance?

Statement of the Case

This case involves a young woman whose boyfriend shot a man with a small pistol.

Because the injured victim indicated to police that she handed her boyfriend the pistol, she was charged alongside her paramour with aggravated assault. The boyfriend had provided a sworn statement prior to trial that he had produced the gun himself, but on the stand at trial changed his testimony to say that she had given him the gun.

As a result of this perjurious testimony, which her attorney did not protest, she was convicted. Further, the jury was not properly instructed regarding the law of self defense in Mississippi, another point which her attorney did not raise.

Statement Regarding Oral Argument

This case presents a question of first impression in Mississippi concerning the application of the recent change in self defense law pursuant to the Castle Doctrine. Oral argument would aid the Court in addressing the issues raised by the application of this new law.

Procedural History and Relevant Facts

There is one core undisputed fact in this case: Alfred Kirkham shot Fabian Curry in the chest with a small pistol, causing him injury. There are only two substantive issues that are disputed. First, whether under the circumstances Kirkham was justified in shooting Curry.

Second, whether Kirkham's girlfriend at the time of the shooting, Lawonda Shepherd, aided and abetted him in shooting Curry.

The events take place in Shaw, Mississippi, a small Delta town close to Greenville and Leland. In the Spring of 2007, the brother of Alfred Kirkham was driving Fabian Curry's car, and he wrecked it. Tr. at 184. Curry demanded that Kirkham pay him for the damage his brother caused to the car. Tr. at 184-86. Kirkham disputed that he should be required to pay for the damage, but tried to arrange for his father to pay Curry. Tr. at 186.

Curry believed the damage to the car would take around \$3,500 to fix, and when he had not received any money from Kirkham's father, began calling and demanding again that Kirkham pay for the damage. Tr. at 187. Kirkham continued to refuse. Tr. at 187.

On Sunday, June 24, 2007, while waiting at her family's house for his girlfriend

Lawonda Shepherd to return from church, Kirkham was confronted by Curry. Tr. at 187-88.

Kirkham testified that Curry came up to him and shoved him against a wall, demanding the money for the damage to the car. Tr. at 188. After Kirkham left on his motorcycle, Kirkham ran him off the road with his car. Tr. at 188. While Kirkham's mother advised him to contact the police and press charges, he demurred. Tr. at 189.

What happened the next day, June 25, 2007—the day that Kirkham shot Curry—is less clear, although neither prosecution nor defendant disputes that ultimately Curry would be in the hospital with a gunshot wound inflicted by Kirkham.

In Curry's sequence of events, it is the early evening, and he is at a friend's apartment at the Promise Land Apartments at a house party, having party wings and Rotel. Tr. at 63. He left the apartment to head to the store for more beer. Tr. at 64. He spots Kirkham's girlfriend, Ms. Shepherd, outside the apartment, and hears the approach of Kirkham's motorcycle. Tr. at 64-65. According to Curry, Kirkham confronts him about the "altercation" the day before. Tr. at 66-67. Kirkham is on his motorcycle, wearing a helmet, next to a Cadillac which he also owns. Tr. at 66-67.

In Curry's version, he sees Ms. Shepherd hand Kirkham a small pistol, which she retrieved from the Cadillac. Tr. at 67-68. The men curse each other for about three minutes. Tr. at 101. Kirkham then shoots Curry in the chest, and then hovers over him, taunting, and tries to pull the trigger again—but the gun jams. Tr. at 69. At that point Curry's friends arrive, who take him the hospital. Tr. at 69. Curry ultimately admitted that he "couldn't say" whether he or Kirkham started the argument. Tr. at 103.

Ms. Shepherd's recitation of what happened is markedly different. Instead of a lone Curry ambushed by a raving Kirkham, she testified that Curry surrounded her boyfriend that day with three other men, while he was still sitting on his motorcycle. Tr. at 222. Curry then punches Kirkham in the face—a fact disputed by Curry, although there are contemporaneous photographs to support the story, as well as other testifying witnesses. Tr. at 103, Exhibit D-3. Ms. Shepherd intervened, telling Curry that her boyfriend didn't want to fight, which resulted in Curry threatening her with physical harm and cursing her. Tr. at 222. Curry threatened that he and his crew would go get their "thumpers," which she understood to mean their guns. Tr. at 225. She felt like she was in serious danger. Tr. at 227. Indeed, she feared for her life and that of her boyfriend, and considered the four men to be dangerous people. Tr. at 227.

Then Ms. Shepherd's aunt intervenes, trying to remove her young niece from what is already a bad situation. Tr. at 222. During the commotion, Ms. Shepherd simply hears a shot, and turns to see Curry on the ground. Tr. at 222. She never saw the gun, and testified that she didn't hand a gun to Kirkham. Tr. at 222-23. Ms. Shepherd also disputed that there was a gun in the Cadillac, which she had been driving. Tr. at 223.

Kirkham's story was markedly the same. He recalled being punched in the face by Curry while he was sitting on his motorcycle, and was "nervous and anxious." Tr. at 194. He also testified he was "trying to avoid a confrontation." Tr. at 194. Kirkham said that Curry stuck his hand in his pants, as if to withdraw a gun. Tr. at 209. He was also worried that after Ms. Shepherd protested to the four men about his treatment, they were going to attack her as well. Tr. at 209-10. He admitted he was scared of serious bodily injury from Curry and his associates. Tr. at 199.

Before trial, Kirkham admitted in a signed statement that he "came up with the gun" before shooting at Mr. Curry. Exhibit D-2. Indeed, in his sworn statement to the Shaw Police Department produced prior to trial, Kirkham does not even use Ms. Shepherd's name, just calling her his girlfriend, and nowhere in the statement is the concept that she handed him the gun. D-2.

Yet at trial his position changed dramatically: he testified that he asked Ms. Shepherd to hand him a gun, and that she did. Tr. at 196. He also testified that the gun was not his and that it belonged to Ms. Shepherd. Tr. at 206.

No other witness saw Ms. Shepherd hand a gun to Kirkham. Ms. Shepherd's grandmother corroborated the testimony that the day before the shooting she saw Curry push Kirkham up against a wall. Tr. at 147. Ms. Shepherd's aunt also corroborated that Curry wasn't

¹ Nor did the prosecution see the gun; it was never recovered, and not introduced into evidence at the trial.

alone the day of the shooting, but accompanied by three other men. Tr. at 151. She also testified that he hit Kirkham with his fist. Tr. at 152, 153.

After the shooting, both Kirkham and Ms. Shepherd were indicted for aggravated assault, or aiding and abetting in aggravated assault. R. at 58. Following the testimony at trial, the jury deliberated for roughly two hours before delivering a verdict of guilty for both Kirkham and Ms. Shepherd. Tr. at 260-61. At Ms. Shepherd's sentencing hearing, Curry's mother asked the Court to "[b]e lenient." Tr. at 268. She received a sentence of fifteen years, with five suspended. Tr. at 268-69.

Before his sentencing for the shooting, Kirkham had also been convicted of a felony for possession of cocaine with the intent to sell. Tr. at 271. He received a twenty year sentence. Tr. at 272.

Summary of the Argument

Ms. Shepherd's conviction must be reversed and this matter remanded for a new trial for four primary reasons. First, it was an abuse of discretion to try both her and Kirkham together, and the trial court should have severed the defendants for separate trials. Second, the jury was not properly instructed regarding the change in self defense law after the Legislature's adoption of the Castle Doctrine. Third, the Castle Doctrine provides complete immunity for Ms. Shepherd's actions. Last, she was denied the effective assistance of counsel when her lawyer failed to cross-examine Kirkham's perjurious statements that she was a part of the crime, and failed to introduce the Castle Doctrine in her defense.

Argument

I. The Trial Should Have Been Severed.

It was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to refuse to sever Ms. Shepherd's trial from her co-defendant, and as a result she was irrevocably prejudiced.

A trial court's denial of a motion to sever a trial will not be overturned absent abuse of discretion. *King v. State*, 857 So.2d 702, 716 (Miss. 2003). Rule 9.03 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules states, "[t]he granting or refusing of severance of defendants in cases not involving the death penalty shall be in the discretion of the trial judge." In a joint trial where the accused moves for severance because the prosecution intends to introduce a confession given by a co-defendant that implicates the accused, the trial judge should require the State to elect among three options: a joint trial in which the statement is *excluded*; a joint trial in which the statement is *admitted*, but the portion implicating the accused is *deleted* or *redacted*; or to agree to a *severance*. *Walker v. State*, 430 So.2d 418, 421 (Miss. 1983); *see also Anderson v. State*, 5 So.3d 1088, 1093 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

In the case at hand, both Kirkham and Ms. Shepherd were indicted for aggravated assault. Her position remained steadfast that she had no role in the shooting, and the undisputed shooter, Kirkham, admitted in a signed statement that *he* "came up with the gun" before shooting at Mr. Curry. Nowhere in the sworn statement to the Shaw Police Department is the concept that Ms. Shepherd handed him the gun. Yet at his testimony abruptly shifted to indicate that she had passed him the pistol, a full reversal from his earlier sworn statement.² His statements garnered no objection from Ms. Shepherd's counsel.

² Because Kirkham's earlier signed and sworn statement was to the Shaw Police Department during its investigation of the shooting of Curry, his change in testimony at trial was perjury. The pertinent statute reads:

Every person who shall wilfully and corruptly swear, testify, or affirm falsely to any material matter under any oath, affirmation, or declaration legally administered in any matter, cause, or proceeding pending in any court of law or equity, or before any officer thereof, or in any case where an oath or affirmation is required by law or is necessary for the prosecution or defense of any private right or for the ends of public justice, or in any matter or proceeding before any tribunal or officer created by the Constitution or by law, or where any oath may be lawfully required by any judicial, executive, or administrative officer, shall be guilty of perjury, and shall not thereafter be received as a witness to be sworn in any matter or cause whatever, until the judgment against him be reversed.

After this testimony, counsel for Ms. Shepherd requested a severance of the trial, stating that Kirkham's position had changed, as he now has:

... her passing him the gun. That's not in his [prior] statement. My client has always maintained that she did not [pass the gun]. Therefore, that's where we are getting into a—

THE COURT: Yeah.

Tr. at 201. The prosecutor interjects to assert that she "do[es]n't believe their defenses are opposed to one another," then immediately retracts this statement, admitting that counsel for Ms. Shepherd did not make an opening statement, and so Ms. Shepherd has not yet presented her theory of the case. Tr. at 201-02.

After reviewing the prior sworn statement of Kirkham, the Court rules that his testimony that Ms. Shepherd passed him the gun is "consistent with the statement of the victim," Fabian Curry, and "[s]o we would otherwise have it in." Tr. at 202. The trial court then denies the motion for severance. Tr. at 202.

This is not the standard outlined in Walker and Anderson. Regardless of whether the victim and one of the defendants agreed—which they did—the State must at this point elect one of the three paths described in precedent. First, to proceed with a joint trial, but to exclude the statement. Second, to proceed with a joint trial and admit Mr. Kirkham's statements, but redact or delete his references to Ms. Shepherd. Last, the State could have agreed to a severance.

In this case, none of the three paths were chosen. The State instead proceeded to try both defendants with the statement fully included in the trial and unredacted. The only permissible way to proceed would be to exclude the reference to Ms. Shepherd handing Mr. Kirkham the gun. However, at that point the cat was already out of the bag. The only possible cure at that point was to sever the trial.

The trial court abused its discretion by not focusing on the prejudice to Ms. Shepherd, which is the standard embraced by *Walker* and *Anderson*, but instead relying on the idea that the testimony of Kirkham was corroborated by Curry. Regardless of Curry's testimony, it is exactly the corroboration by Kirkham that harms Ms. Shepherd, and this is the exact reason why the law forbids such a route: there is an incentive for a co-defendant to "gang up on" a co-defendant that prejudices the accused.

Further, at the moment the perjurious testimony was introduced, a continuance would have been warranted so that defense counsel could prepare for Kirkham's change in testimony. In that fashion, this case is analogous to *Fulks v. State*, 18 So.3d 803, 805 (Miss. 2009). There, an "eleventh-hour disclosure of the unexpected content of this witness's testimony produced . . . a trial by ambush in which critically important evidence was sprung on a defendant with such abruptness that defense counsel had time neither to investigate its veracity nor to make meaningful preparation to meet it." *Id.* at 805. In reversing the conviction in that case, the Court held that:

When a [party] reveals evidence on the eve of trial that should have been disclosed earlier, and when that evidence completely undercuts the defense's theory of the case and renders most of its trial preparations worthless, then the only effective remedy is a continuance. Otherwise, the defense attorney is left with inadequate time and opportunity to investigate the newly arisen evidence, evaluate its trustworthiness, discuss its implications with his client, allow time for due consideration thereof, and, if necessary, to develop a new trial strategy.

Id. at 805. While the offending party in Fulks was the prosecutor, the same reasoning applies here: a defendant should be protected from trial by ambush, whether effected by the prosecutor or a co-defendant. It is not "merely... an impeachment opportunity for the defense," but prejudicial to the administration of justice, and undercut Ms. Shepherd's position. Id.

The trial court's refusal to sever the trial, and refusal to follow one of the three paths as outlined in *Walker* and *Anderson*, constitutes an abuse of discretion. A limiting instruction could

have perhaps been given to the jury, but even this tepid remedy was not in place. As a result, Ms. Shepherd's conviction must be reversed, and this case remanded so that she might receive a separate trial from Kirkham with the opportunity to fully defend herself against his perjurious change in position.

II. The Jury Was Improperly Instructed on Self-Defense Law in Mississippi.

Because the jury was not properly instructed on the law of self defense in Mississippi, the conviction of Ms. Shepherd must be reversed.

"In determining whether error lies in the granting or refusal of various instructions, the instructions actually given must be read as a whole," and "if the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found." *Johnson v. State*, 823 So.2d 582, 584 (Miss. Ct. App.2002) (quoting *Collins v. State*, 691 So.2d 918, 922 (Miss.1997)).

In the case at hand, three instructions were given regarding self-defense (the first two instructions are not numbered). "Self Defense 1" read:

The Court instructs the jury that to make an assault justifiable on the grounds of self-defense, the danger to Alfred Kirkham and/or Lawonda Shepherd must either be actual, present and urgent, or he or she must have reasonable grounds to believe that Fabian Curry intended to do him some great bodily harm, and in addition to this, Alfred Kirkham and/or Lawonda Shepherd must have reasonable grounds to believe that there is imminent danger of such act being accomplished. It is for the jury to determine the reasonableness of the grounds on which the defendant(s) act(s).

R. at 108. "Self Defense 2" reads: "The Court instructs the jury that one who claims self-defense as defense to his actions may not use excessive force to repel the attack, but may only use such force as is reasonable necessary under the circumstances." R. at 109.

Last, D-3 read: "The Court instructs the Jury that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant, Alfred Kirkham, did not act in lawful self-defense." R. at 110. There was no such corresponding instruction for Ms. Shepherd.

While at one point the instructions roughly reflected the state of the law, it is undisputed that the adoption of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-15 greatly changed the law of self-defense: the so-called "Castle Doctrine" adopted by the Legislature became effective on July 1, 2006, almost a year before the incident in question. As this Court has noted, "[t]he Castle doctrine made substantive changes to the law of self-defense" Johnson v. State, 997 So.2d 256, 260 n.2 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) (emphasis added). Specifically, it "curtailed the duty to retreat and created a presumption that the defendant reasonably feared imminent death, great bodily harm, or the commission of a felony upon him" Id. (emphasis added).

The relevant portions of the law read:

A person who uses defensive force shall be presumed to have reasonably feared imminent death or great bodily harm, or the commission of a felony upon him or another or upon his dwelling, or against a vehicle which he was occupying, or against his business or place of employment or the immediate premises of such business or place of employment, if the person against whom the defensive force was used, was in the process of unlawfully and forcibly entering, or had unlawfully and forcibly entered, a dwelling, occupied vehicle, business, place of employment or the immediate premises thereof or if that person had unlawfully removed or was attempting to unlawfully remove another against the other person's will from that dwelling, occupied vehicle, business, place of employment or the immediate premises thereof and the person who used defensive force knew or had reason to believe that the forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act was occurring or had occurred.

. .

A person who is not the initial aggressor and is not engaged in unlawful activity shall have no duty to retreat before using deadly force under subsection (1)(e) or (f) of this section if the person is in a place where the person has a right to be, and no finder of fact shall be permitted to consider the person's failure to retreat as evidence that the person's use of force was unnecessary, excessive or unreasonable.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-15 (3), (4). Therefore the law creates two new standards applicable to this case. First, that when a person is in an occupied vehicle, he or she may use defensive force of any kind, as there is a *presumption* that there was a fear of imminent death, great bodily harm,

or the commission of a felony. Secondly, that a person who is attacked in a neutral place may use deadly force to protect themselves.

In the case at hand, the undisputed testimony showed that Kirkham was on his motorcycle, an "occupied vehicle" under the meaning of subsection 3 of the Castle Doctrine, when Curry approached and threatened him. Not only did both he and Ms. Shepherd testify that he was *actually* afraid of bodily injury, four persons testified that Curry punched him in the face—a felony. Under subsection 3, any defensive action he committed must be *presumed* to be reasonable in light of the circumstances.

However, jury was instructed by Self Defense 1 that reasonableness must be *proved*—the standard *before* the "substantive" change in self defense law announced by the Castle Doctrine. This does not accurately reflect the law, and even when read in concert with the other instructions does not adequately instruct the jury.

Secondly, subsection 4 of the Castle Doctrine states that if a person is where they are allowed to be, and they are not the initial aggressor, and not engaged in breaking the law, they have no duty to retreat before using deadly force. Yet the Self Defense 2 instruction heard by the jury bound them to the concept "that one who claims self-defense as defense to his actions may not use excessive force to repel the attack, but may only use such force as is reasonable necessary under the circumstances." This is in direct contradiction to the Castle Doctrine. In the case at hand, Kirkham was in a parking lot in a public housing area where his girlfriend's relatives lived. He was not breaking the law. Four witnesses testified that he was attacked by Curry; indeed, even Curry admitted that he did not know who started the argument. The jury should have been instructed that he was allowed to use deadly force, which he did.

There were no instructions given to the jury which adequately reflected the Castle Doctrine, and even read as a whole there is no way to cure what occurred: the jury was simply instructed on law that had been superseded by statute.

Unfortunately, there are no cases interpreting the Castle Doctrine under the facts of this case. *Johnson*, *supra*, only acknowledged the substantive change in self-defense law. A more recent case held that it did not apply when "there was no evidence that [the victim] was going commit an assault, offer violence to an occupant of [the building], or commit some other crime on the premises," facts dissimilar to the case at hand. *See Westbrook v. State*, 2009 WL 3086430, *3 (Miss. Ct. App. Sept. 29, 2009).

Last, and just as important, while Kirkham received an instruction that the State had the responsibility of disproving his theory of self defense, Ms. Shepherd did not. The exact same crime was imputed to her through the indictment, and she should have had the benefit of the same defenses. The other instructions all include her name alongside Kirkham's, save D-3. Read in concert with the other misleading instructions, the jury could have inferred that even if Ms. Shepherd had acted reasonably, it did not provide a viable defense if Kirkham had not. This confusion prejudices Ms. Shepherd.

Because the jury was not properly instructed regarding the law of self-defense, Ms.

Shepherd's conviction must be reversed, and this matter remanded so that she might received a new trial with proper instructions.

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