IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LAWONDA SHEPHARD

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-0112-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

**BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
POST OFFICE BOX 220
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR SEVERANCE.

The motion for severance was made after the trial had commenced and the State presented its case-in-chief. Then based upon the testimony of co-defendant Kirkham from the stand defendant Shepherd moved for severance. The trial court denied the motion for severance. Kirkham's testimony did not shift the guilt to Shepherd, nor did it exonerate his own actions. No need for severance.

Issue II.

THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON SELF-DEFENSE.

The jury was given three instructions as to self-defense, the State's burden of proof, and how to weigh the evidence of self-defense.

Issue III.

THE CLAIM OF 'CASTLE DOCTRINE IMMUNITY' IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

Well, there was no evidence to support a 'Castle Doctrine Immunity' and this issue was never presented, argued or raised in the motion for new trial. Such is procedurally barred and alternatively without merit.

Issue IV.

DEFENDANT HAD EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL.

The specific claims of ineffective assistance are all within the gambit of trial strategy and there is no prejudice claimed by his actions.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR SEVERANCE.

In this initial allegation of trial court error defendant seeks the remedy of remand for retrial. Specifically, defendant claims it was error for the trial court to deny defendant's motion for severance.

It would appear, the motion for severance was made *ore tenus* during trial and after a brief discussion, denied by the trial court. Tr. 200-201.

It is imperative to follow the development of this issue in the record. First, there does not appear to be any motion for severance filed pre-trial. It is clear and undisputed from the record that there was discovery and no claim of any discovery violation.

Looking to the record the victim testified about the assault and testified to the confrontation. The victim testified that this defendant, Lawonda Shepherd (a.k.a. 'Cabbage Patch') handed co-defendant Kirkham a gun. Tr.67-68 (direct) & tr. 83-84 (cross by co-defendant's counsel) & 92-98 (cross by defendant's counsel). Additionally, co-defendant's pre-trial statement (D-S, admitted for ID, pg. 109), was never admitted in to evidence.

Further, the claimed error in denial of severance (during trial) was *not* raised in defendant's motion for new trial. (Shepherd's Motion for New Trial, C.p.43-45).

Consequently it is the position of the State this claim of error is was waived and is procedurally barred from review. *Goldman v. State* 9 So.3d 394 ¶¶ 20-23(Miss.App. 2008).

Without waiving any procedural bar to review and arguing in the alternative, this issue is also without merit factually and legally.

As authority counsel for defendant not cites this court to *Walker v. State*, 430 So.2d 418, 421 (Miss. 1983). It is worth noting that as summarized in defendant's brief there is some essential language missing from the opinion of *Walker*. Specifically, the holding in *Walker* is limited to “***...introduction of pre-trial admissions, statement, or confession given by a co-defendant which implicates the accused,...***”.

Our reflection convinces us that in a joint trial where an accused moves for a severance because the prosecution intends to introduce a pre-trial admission, statement, or confession given by a codefendant which implicates the accused, the trial judge should require the state to elect between a joint trial in which the statement is excluded, a joint trial in which the statement is admitted, but the portion implicating the accused is deleted, or agree to a severance. This election would also exclude the state from cross-examining a codefendant who takes the stand in his own defense about any pre-trial statement insofar as it implicated the accused

Walker v. State, 430 So.2d 418, 421 (Miss. 1983)

Sub judice co-defendant Kirkham testified, and was subject to cross-examination, by defendant Shepherd's trial counsel. (Tr. 202, *et seq.*). Additionally,

there was no attempt to introduce any pre-trial statements, confession, or admission of co-defendant Kirkham that implicated this defendant.

The trial court clearly recognized this distinction and denied the mid-trial motion for severance.

¶ 11. “Defendants [who are] jointly indicted for a felony are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right.” *Id.* (11) (citing *Price v. State*, 336 So.2d 1311, 1312 (Miss.1976)). The trial judge may grant a motion to sever if he determines that it is necessary to promote a fair determination of a co-defendant's guilt or innocence. *Id.* (12) (citing *Carter v. State*, 799 So.2d 40, 44(13) (Miss.2001)). In determining whether to grant a motion to sever, the trial court should consider: (1) whether one co-defendant's testimony tends to exonerate himself by placing blame on the other co-defendant, and (2) whether the weight of the evidence goes more to the guilt of one co-defendant than the other. *Id.* at 159(15) (citing *Duckworth v. State*, 477 So.2d 935, 937 (Miss.1985)).

Miller v. State, 17 So.3d 1109 (Miss.App. 2009).

Looking to co-defendant Kirkham’s testimony – at trial – the testimony did not exonerate Kirkham. That is the difference from pre-trial admissions, confession that ‘implicate’ co-defendant. Severance regarding testimony elicited at trial is slightly different looking to whether it exonerates or goes more to the guilt of the other.

The testimony does not exonerate Kirkham nor does it assert ‘more guilt’ on Shepherd.

There being no abuse of discretion the trial court was not in error by denying the motion for severance.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of trial court error.

Issue II.

THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON SELF-DEFENSE.

As counsel for defendant Shepherd has noted the jury was instructed on self-defense as to both defendants. More specifically, C.p 33 is the elements instruction wherein it instructs the jury that in order to find either defendant guilty of aggravated assault the State must prove – beyond a reasonable doubt – that the actions of defendant(s) was “...not in necessary self-defense. Next there was the instruction on page 35 of the Clerk’s papers that it was for the jury to determine the reasonableness of the circumstances for either defendant as to a self-defense claim. And, finally instruction memorialized in the Clerk’s papers at page 36, regarding the amount of force necessary in a self-defense claim.

Looking to the record there was no objection to or denial of any instruction regarding self-defense and this defendant. Additionally, there is no objection to the granting, denial or inaccuracy of any self-defense instruction in the motion for new trial. (Shepherd’s Motion for New Trial, C.p.43-45).

¶ 22. We first note that Williams failed to contemporaneously object and failed to raise this issue in his motion for a new trial; thus, he has waived this issue for purposes of appellate review. *Ahmad v. State*, 603 So.2d 843, 846-47 (Miss.1992).

Williams v. State, 2010 WL 522686 (Miss.App. 2010)(decided. 2-16-2010).

Without waiving any procedural bar to review and arguing in the alternative, --this issue is also without merit in fact and law.

First, the facts: The jury was adequately instructed on self-defense as to this defendant. (Instructions addressing self-defense applicable to Defendant Shepherd, C.p. pp. 33, 35, 36). The jury was instructed as the State's duty to prove any actions were not in necessary self-defense – before finding defendant guilty of the crime charged. And, the jury was instructed as to how to weigh the evidence when self-defense is claimed.

¶ 10. The law is clear that “ ‘[w]hen considering a challenge to a jury instruction on appeal, we do not review the jury instructions in isolation; rather, we *576 read them as a whole to determine if the jury was properly instructed.’ ” *Milano v. State*, 790 So.2d 179, 184(¶ 14) (Miss.2001) (quoting *Burton ex rel. Bradford v. Barnett*, 615 So.2d 580, 583 (Miss.1993)). “[I]f all instructions taken as a whole fairly, but not necessarily perfectly, announce the applicable rules of law, no error results.” *Milano*, 790 So.2d at 184(¶ 14). Here, a review of the jury instructions given by the trial court reveals that when read together, the instructions set forth an adequate statement of the law on self-defense. Further, the jury was properly instructed as to the theory of Roberts's case, that is, if it found that he was acting in self-defense or in the defense of others, it was to find him not guilty.

Roberts v. State, 911 So.2d 573 (Miss.App. 2005).

Reading all of the given instruction and defendant's defense as argued at trial the jury was adequately and fully instructed on self-defense as to this defendant.

Now as to defendant's belated claim that a Castle Doctrine should have been

given, such is just not factually supported by the testimony. (See co-defendant Kirkham's own testimony at tr. 197 – he was not on his motorcycle..., granted he was on it earlier, 194) – certainly not enough to raise the Castle Doctrine.

Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred and alternatively without merit. No relief should be granted on this claim of trial court error.

Issue III.
**THE CLAIM OF ‘CASTLE DOCTRINE IMMUNITY’ IS
NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.**

Now, again for the first time on appeal, counsel for defendant Shepherd raises a new claim – which, is totally unsupported by the record or citation to same in the brief. Particularly, defendant asserts she is immune from prosecution by the Castle Doctrine.

However, there is no citation to the record where it occurred, there is no substantive citation to authority to support the claim of vicarious immunity.

It is the position of the State this is more similar to the facts and holding of *Westbrook v. State*, 29 So.3d 828, 833 (Miss.App. 2009). The co-defendant Kirkham and the victim were apparently, just engaged in conversation or at the very least an mutually entered argument.

Moreover, since this claim or defense was never raised at trial there is no record to now try and review the validity of such a claim.

¶ 70. . . . We conclude, therefore, that [the] failure to affirmatively raise the issue at the trial level works as a bar to our consideration of the issue on appeal under the well-known principle that the primary purpose of an appellate court is to correct erroneous rulings by the trial court and not to rule on alleged errors that were not presented to the trial court for decision in the first instance. *Sanders v. State*, 678 So.2d 663, 670-71 (Miss.1996). . . .

Williams v. State, 2009 WL 4808181 (Miss.App. 2009).

Therefore, this issue is not properly before this court, barred from review and alternatively without merit.

No relief should be granted on this claim of error.

Issue IV.
DEFENDANT HAD EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL.

In this last claim defendant asserts she had ineffective assistance of trial counsel under the rationale and standard of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Defendant specifically the three instances raised as substantive claims of error, and with clairvoyance predicts that if claim of procedurally bar due to waiver is claimed the ineffective nature is heightened.

The first claim is that trial counsel failed to introduce co-defendant Kirkham's prior sworn statement. Well, first of all, trial counsel did try to have it introduced (tr. 112), but it was inadmissible. Further, while it was admitted for ID purposes as defense exhibit 2, the copy submitted by the clerk would appear to be *unsworn*. There is no recitation of truth, it is just an unsworn statement.

¶ 43. As for the remaining seven assertions made by Neal in support of his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, none constitutes ineffective assistance. Neal's assertions that defense counsel failed to object to hearsay and jury instructions and failed to make timely objections are all protected as within the realm of trial strategy. "The decision to 'make certain objections fall[s] within the ambit of trial strategy and cannot give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim.'" *Spicer v. State*, 973 So.2d 184, 203 (Miss.2007) (quoting *Powell v. State*, 806 So.2d 1069, 1077 (Miss.2001)). Likewise, Neal's claim that defense counsel failed to cross-examine witnesses to develop a post-mortem-decapitation theory falls within the ambit of trial strategy. See *Wilcher*, 863 So.2d at 762. Neal's allegation that defense counsel was deficient for failing to move for a change of venue does not require reversal. "This Court has held that defense counsel is under no duty to

attempt to transfer venue; therefore, the decision not to seek a change of venue would fall within the realm of trial strategy.” *Brawner v. State*, 947 So.2d 254, 262 (Miss.2006). Neal's claim that it was error for counsel not to request the lesser-offense manslaughter and mutilation jury instructions fails, as this Court has stated that “trial counsel's decision to not request a jury instruction falls under the category of trial tactics, which are not subject to review.” *Smiley v. State*, 815 So.2d 1140, 1148 (Miss.2002)

Neal v. State, 15 So.3d 388 (Miss. 2009).

It is the position of the State the introduction or non-introduction of an unsworn, hearsay statement was trial strategy. Further there is no claim of showing of proof of how this did prejudice her case.

As to the claims of the jury instructions and alternative defenses, again, it is the clear position that such actions are all within the gambit of trial strategy.

Under rationale of *Neal* there is no merit to this allegation of error and no relief should be granted on this claim of error.